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Chair:  Welcome to this meeting of the Housing Law Practitioners’ Association.  My name is John Gallagher from Shelter and I will be chairing this evening.  Our topic this evening is Housing Money Claims: Deposits and Disrepair and we are very pleased to welcome back two familiar faces, Deirdre Forster from Powell Forster Solicitors and David Smith from Anthony Gold Solicitors.  Before we start can I just ask if there are corrections or amendments to the minutes of the last meeting on 16 July?  If not, I will ask Deirdre to speak first.

Deirdre Forster:  Good evening everyone, thank you very much for coming tonight.  I have been told by a trainee teacher that you not take anything away from a talk unless at the end of it you reflect and discuss it with someone.  I know how shy people are about speaking up in these meetings so what I want you to do is look around and find someone who is sitting near you.  At the end of my talk I will ask you a few questions and I want you to discuss with your partner just for two minutes what your answers would be if I were to make you stand up and answer, which I will not do, I promise!  
So tonight I will talk about such recent disrepair case law as there is; I will look at likely future developments and then, hopefully, I will conclude.

There is one Court of Appeal case that I think is of relevance and that I need to draw to your attention, Buckle v Anselm.  It was not a private landlord and tenant case; it was a commercial letting but the principles of mitigation were discussed.  The note that I found said that it also discussed remoteness of damage but I cannot find any decision about remoteness of damage
Mr and Mrs Buckle were lessors.  They leased a shop to Mr Anselm on a lease that made him responsible for repairs and that is of relevance.  But they agreed that they would carry out certain repairs within the first six months of the lease and, as often happens in conveyancing, Mr Anselm’s solicitor made a retention of £6000 to be held until the work was done.  The Buckles failed to do the work.  Meanwhile the Fire Authority did unrelated work at the premises and they charged Mr and Mrs Buckle £2652 for that.  Now Mr Anselm was unquestionably responsible for that loss and Mr and Mrs Buckle sued him for it.  There was no defence to that claim but he counter-claimed for the cost of the work that the Buckles had failed to do and that sum was not determined by the time the case came to trial.  We do not know how much it was but we do know it was considerably more than £6000.  For all I know it was £20,000 but we are not talking mega-bucks here which is why when you hear that this was a five day trial that ended up at the Court of Appeal your toes curl a bit.  

The Buckles defended the case on the basis that Mr Anselm should have done the work himself and that is where it, perhaps, becomes relevant to us.  Lord Justice Briggs said “Where failure to mitigate is relied upon in answer to a claim for damages for breach of contract, it is for the defendant to the claim … both to plead and prove a case to that effect.”  So in other words, to try to say that somebody wanting repairs should do them themselves is quite a high bar to reach, particularly for us with tenants who actually have only a very limited right to do repairs themselves; it is the landlord’s duty to repair.  In the Anselm and Buckle case no evidence was led about whether Mr Anselm could afford to do the repairs himself so that was the starting point.  
The next case I want to talk about quite briefly is Cunningham v Cameron & British Gas.  This was a Scottish case so it is all about defenders and pursuers.  It is quite topical for tonight, isn’t it, Scotland being on all of our minds?  It is not a disrepair case but it may be of some relevance to us.  Quite interesting facts; Mr Cunningham lived downstairs in a nice converted house in Scotland and Mr Cameron lived upstairs in one of those houses which has got steps going down into a garden.  A fire broke out.  Fortunately both occupants were out because it completely burned down the house.  So when the fire inspector came round he discovered that it had started at the gas boiler and that there was a combination of two problems:  The first was that there was a gap between the flue of the boiler and the actual boiler so fumes were leaking into a partition between the plaster and the wall.  The second problem was when the inspector went outside he saw a neat little wigwam of planks around the flue.  Now why would anybody deliberately put planks around the flue of a gas boiler?  Well, Mr Cameron said to the fire inspector immediately after the fire that he had put them there but by the time of the trial he said it could not possibly be him and perhaps it was his wife.  A really nice sort of husband to have!  What it turned out was that the gap between the flue and the boiler meant fumes were leaking out and they were setting off a nightlight at night.  That was irritating Mr Cameron who had no idea, I assume, of the harm he would cause if he built the little wigwam so that his nightlight would not keep going on and waking him up at night.  At least that is what the judge found; Mr Cameron denied it all.  The Cameron’s insurer blamed British Gas who had a service contract with the Cunninghams.  They said that it was all the fault of the gap and that the British Gas contractor should have discovered the fault when they were doing a service and if they had, this would have never happened.  So you have two possible causes and the judge had to decide between them and he did what any sensible judge in this situation would do; he said it was both of them.  He, for understandable reasons, given naughty Mr Cameron, said that the upstairs neighbour was two-thirds to blame for the problem and as far as British Gas was concerned he found them one-third to blame.  He said he would have found them more liable if they had actually installed the boiler negligently whereas as it was it was, they had failed to note the defect on each service that they did.  

Now I suppose the relevance to us is where we are bringing a claim in Section 11 against a landlord and either they or we join a contractor as another party such as a contractor.  This gives you some rule of thumb about apportionment of blame in that situation.  I do not know about other people but lately I have come across an awful lot of carbon monoxide cases.  In one of them they had to rope off the whole street because it was so dangerous and, sadly, in each case they have been against private landlords and either the tenants have not been willing to go ahead or I have not felt that the private landlords have had the resources to pay.  So I do not know if anybody else is noticing a trend such as that?
The next case that I want to tell you about is reported in Nearly Legal.  It is called Maloku v Southwark LBC.  It is only a settlement I afraid.  We really have a dearth of decided cases this year.  This is a studio flat where you have a mother and daughter squashed together so you can imagine lots of inconvenience, especially once you start getting disrepair; rent of £100 per week and dampness to the walls and chimney breast of the living room, crumbling plaster, damp spreading into the kitchen and hallway with further plaster damage.  The claim was from mid 2008.  Repairs were carried out in July 2011 but as is so often the case they were ineffective and dampness returned to the same areas.  Further repairs were carried out and I think these were effective in February 2012.  The claimant and her daughter had to move in with the claimant’s mother for a twenty month period because the place was so damp.  So what did the settlement achieve?  Well, we also had a personal injury claim here so we have exacerbation of asthma and respiratory infections and, allowing for that, the claimant was awarded £13,300 and the daughter received £3,000 so that is not a bad settlement given that we always have to get over £10,000 if we can.  

The next case is another settlement; this one is Central London County Court.  I do not know if Miss Bennett is here tonight from Hardwicke Chambers but she has reported this one; I found it on their website.  It is a good example of where for leaseholders the claims are much more valuable.  I suspect some people here will not know that you can claim twelve years’ damages for a leaseholder.  There is no shame in that as far as I am concerned because it took me years to find that out and the reason that it is so obscure unless someone tells you, is the wording of Section 8 of the Limitation Act 1980 which says “time limit for actions on a speciality.  An action on a speciality shall not be brought after the expiration of twelve years from the date on which the cause of action accrued.”  Well unless you know that a speciality is a contract under seal, in other words a deed, in other words in our case a lease, that will pass you by when you are sitting in bed reading the Limitation Act as I am sure you all do.  The other thing I would mention about leasehold cases is, of course, that they are assessed on market rental value even though the leaseholders pay in ground rent so you are talking about £1000-£1300 a month so you are talking about serious damages.  This claimant had nine years of water penetration through the roof and the settlement was for 18% of market rent.  Well I do not know how bad the water penetration was but I would have thought that was quite modest if you have water dripping in and keeping people awake all night and buckets overflowing.  I would certainly have gone for more than that but it still came to significant damages of £40,000 so well done that team.

Then I found an interesting case on Anthony Gold’s website, Charlotte Collins reported this one.  This was at Lambeth County Court and it is a decision.  The premises suffered from damp and condensation due to a combination of factors including historic penetrating dampness and hydroscopic dampness, which is where the plaster gets wet and the salts come out and salt attracts damp so every time you have any damp in the air that bit of plaster gets wet again.  It was exacerbated by general bathing, water spillage, condensation, everything actually, construction methods, lack of thermal qualities.  There was no dispute that the premises were in a serious state but it was difficult to distinguish the damp from the condensation, so they drilled into the wall and they had a look at the core sample that they had taken out and they found that inside the house that bit was very damp, the outside was very damp but the middle was dry.  Well the conclusion from that must be that it was not penetrating damp; it was not coming through.  However, helpfully, the single joint expert had described the walls of the bathroom as being saturated so there was an argument about whether a saturated wall is in disrepair.  This judge found that if a wall is soaking wet it has deteriorated from its former state and it is therefore in disrepair and awarded 20% of the rental value for most of the period of the claim.
One of the ways people argue about disrepair is to say it is deterioration from a former state but when we are interpreting the law we are supposed to start with the dictionary definition of disrepair; something broken.  If I am wearing my coat and it is soaking wet it does not need repair; it needs drying out so I think this is a rare example of where the definition of deterioration from a former state does not actually fit.  The wall is not broken; it is just wet.  But I am very glad that the judge did not agree with me and made this finding because that claimant deserved the money, no doubt about that.  
[note however, that if the plaster is contaminated, for example by hydroscopic salts and the expert recommends that it be hacked off- that will be disrepair because it is not just wet, it is damaged, note also the case of Staves v Leeds]

The next case that I want to mention is Midland Heart Ltd v Idawah: several useful things here.  The first is that the normal time limits do not apply where equitable relief is sought because Section 36.2 of the Limitation Act 1980 applies.  A possession action does not end until the warrant for possession is executed.  Very useful to know.  

We have a lot of detail on the Nearly Legal website about a case called Clark v Affinity Sutton Homes Ltd.  It is a decided case and it has a lot of detail about the way that a judge assesses damages so I will go through that with you.  It was at Barnet County Court.  Once again it was to do with dampness; there was damp in three rooms and a hallway and there was a valuation from between 2007 to 2014 so you have the Limitation period presumably plus the period that the Court proceedings were going on.  In this case poor Mr Clark had complained bitterly about the matter between 2007 and 2008 but then had been completely silent between 2009 and 2011 and then in 20012 he had started complaining again.  Well, I do not know why he was silent and, unfortunately, although his solicitors did really well in many other respects they did not deal in the witness statement with the reason for that.  Maybe it was because he was not there and therefore they could not deal with it.  Or maybe, and if this is the reason then obviously with hindsight it would have been good if they had dealt with it, just like so many of our clients he had just got exhausted and demoralised and felt helpless, possibly depressed, and did not complain.  We do not know.  But the judge assumed that because he was not complaining there was nothing wrong.  I do not know how a house can get better by itself but the judge allowed no damages during the period when he was not complaining.  Both parties relied on Legal Action and I bet soon they will all be relying on Nearly Legal for quoting cases.  
My slide says that the tenant asked for a diminution of 50% of the rent.  Actually he was relying on a case where 50% of the rent was awarded but he was only asking for 49% of the rent and the landlord said 38% was appropriate.  So the judge basically decided between the two of them I think, he gave 35% diminution from 2007 to 2008 and 45% between 2012 and 2014.  So that came to £6,779.88 and then, fortunately, everybody remembered the Castle v Simmons uplift so that was another 10% which took it up to £7,457.  Well, if it was a pure damages claim you would be getting worried at this point, but as is so often the case there was a claim for special damages, carpets, use of dehumidifier and heating costs and this is where I really respect the solicitors because they clearly had done a really good job on this bit.  Mr Clark’s carpets had been ruined and they argued for the replacement value not as I would have on the basis of a case called Harbutt Plasticine and Wayne Tank and Pump where it was suggested that since you cannot paint something with second hand paint, there should be no allowance for betterment.  I have always used that to argue that you should not have a reduction for betterment on things like soft furniture and carpets where it is not reasonable to buy second hand.  They used another argument that I have heard Beatrice Prevatt use which was that it is difficult if not impossible to buy second hand carpets these days.  So the judge awarded replacement costs but then he said he was would give a discount for depreciation so he reduced it by 25%, but that is still a pretty good result I have to say.
As far as the dehumidifier is concerned here is a tip; get the power rating of the unit, get the wattage, because in this case, although they had given very good details about the fact that he was using it for eight weeks, twenty four hours a day, seven days a week, they were simply putting in general information about the cost of running dehumidifiers and the judge said that he really could not rely on that because he did not know what this dehumidifier used.  The costs of dehumidifiers ranged from £18.27 up to £36.54 per week.  Mr Clark was claiming £20 a week based on his own estimates and since that fell squarely between those figures the judge had no difficulty in awarding that.  Finally on heating, I do not know what evidence Mr Clark had but he was claiming quite a modest sum for additional heating of £5.00 per week but for six years of claim and he was awarded £915 because the judge did not award him the heating for that period in the middle that I have told you had been disallowed.

So what looked like a worrying award that was below the £10,000 we all need to beat if we are doing damages came out quite well really; general damages, special damages and a total of £11,200.  This was another case done by Hardwicke Chambers, I do not know who the solicitors were but if you are here give yourselves a pat on the back.

I would have liked to have talked to you in detail and have a little rant about that bean counter Lord Justice Dyson.  I was going to, if time permitted, tell you a bit about procedure.  That is not really my remit, only to say you all know about Mitchell v News Group Newspapers; it will probably have given you sleepless nights and you know that things are a little better since Denton v White.  There is a lot of detail about that.  You obviously do need to read it if someone tries to take a procedural point against you The Denton case says that the Court will be more ready in future to penalise opportunism.  It was quite amusing to see Dyson trying to pretend that he had never decided Mitchell the way he did.  

A couple of tips I have had from speaking to friendly barristers who have a lot more experience of trials than I do.  Castle v Simmons, the 10% uplift is working.  Do not forget to make a Part 36 offer and one that you can beat because if you do your clients will get another 10% damages and as a result of that, three years of not insignificant disrepair in social housing is beating the £10,000 limit that we need to reach.  I am being told that most solicitors seem to be using CFAs instead of Legal Aid rather than parallel to it.  I do understand the reasons for that but I would counsel caution on that.  I know David Marshall talked about this last time.  If a client is eligible for Legal Aid, obviously they may feel they have nothing to lose but if you get a really aggressive landlord who bankrupts them they will not thank you.  The protection of the Legal Aid certificate is something worth having, so I would say that where clients are eligible for Legal Aid you should think about trying to do the two things in parallel if you can.  My impression, and I know that David Marshall referred to this last time, is that most solicitors are unaware of the Consumer Contracts (Information, Cancellation and Additional Charges) Regulations 2013 so let me just rub your noses in them.  If you see your client at their home before they have signed up with you, either on Legal Aid or under a conditional fee agreement, it may be that your costs are unenforceable and if they are unenforceable against the client they are unenforceable against the opponent.  So either you have to have a strict rule of never doing a home visit until you have a retainer or you have to serve a notice under this Act.  There is a notice schedule of the Act; it is complete gobbledegook because it assumes that you are a glazing salesman but it can be adapted and made sense of.  
Let us have a look at the future.  Well, I predict that we will get a lot more claims about water penetration and the reason I predict that is according to the Today Programme we all got very wet on 25 August, allegedly one fifth of the annual rainfall fell in one day and I certainly had a lot of calls following that from clients who had a small leak and now had a deluge. 
This is a slightly grimmer point that you all need to consider; this is a headline from the Gazette, “Lawyer ‘leeches’ bleeding local authorities dry.  Council leaders have urged the Government to clamp down on opportunistic no-win no-fee compensation claims which they allege are draining tax payers’ money from local services.”  This is actually to do with personal injury but believe me, it is coming our way as well and if you are wondering why we have not got QOCS and if you are wondering why it is that the Government are making our jobs so difficult, this is the hidden agenda.  

Slightly more cheerfully, there is a Private Member’s Bill that has the Government’s backing, hopefully to prevent retaliatory eviction.  The details are on the slides.  

So to conclude before I get you to do your little exercise; we are still here, we are still making a difference for our clients.  Let us keep going, do not them grind us down.  Now, what I want you to do is talk to your partner and I want you to decide if there was one thing that surprised you about what I have just told you.  One question that if you were to ask a question you would ask and one thing I have said that you disagree with.  So I am going to stand here and watch you do it.  

Chair:  I hope David does not have any plans for a revision exercise for us but I will hand over to him now.

David Smith:  I want to talk about tenancy deposit protection.  You have my notes; they are more of a read later, they are fairly detailed so just put them to one side for the moment.  So very briefly just to make sure we are all on the same page, tenancy deposit protection; protection for assured shorthold tenants, not for other tenancies, a matter I still find bizarre and irritating.  Deposits in the tenancy deposit schemes within thirty days, originally fourteen days but thirty days post the Localism Act.  Information must be given to the tenant within thirty days, originally also fourteen days but now thirty.  I cannot emphasise enough how important it is to do both things despite the efforts of many landlords to prove to the contrary, the obligation is to both protect the deposit and actually tell the tenant that you have protected it, surprisingly.  If you have not done both things you cannot serve a Section 21 notice which is something I am will talk about shortly.  Then there are the further financial penalties of the return of the deposit and originally three times the deposit but now a variable figure between one and three times.  Before anyone asks, I have no information or indeed any understanding whatsoever as to how judges set the tariff of one to three times.  I noticed there was an article in the Journal of Housing Law relating to a Scottish case but as that case is not even binding in Scotland I take it that while an interesting point I do not think it is necessarily any more valid as a statement than any other specific case about it.  From what I have seen there is no rhyme or reason to the levels at which judges set so it is up for you to argue it however you see fit.
So there are three primary scheme providers now, but you should be aware that all of the scheme providers are operating more than one scheme so it gets a bit confusing.  So almost all of the schemes are insured bar one custodial scheme run by DPS.  So the dispute service is the main agent oriented insurance scheme; it is by far and away the biggest scheme.  TDS protects just under one billion pounds now of tenancy deposits.  They would be delighted if they actually had this money, obviously, but what they really mean is they just insure a lot of it and pay a lot of money to an insurance company.  They also operate a landlord oriented scheme called Deposit Guard; do not Google Deposit Guard otherwise you find yourself on a website in California which is of no value to you whatsoever.  So Deposit Guard is an insurance scheme that is primarily aimed at residential landlords’ association members and a few RLA members use it.  My Deposit only run one scheme; the landlord oriented insured scheme that they have always run.  Interestingly, the Deposit Protection Service which ran the original free custodial scheme now also offers a paid insured scheme.  Why, for the life of me you would want to go to someone who is offering you a free scheme and pay them money I do not know but they believe it works.  Their main advertising point, I have to say, is that it is the cheapest scheme available if you are a landlord so if you want to give these people the least possible money then the Deposit Protection Service scheme is the one to head for, I guess.  
As I have already said, prescribed information is not a secondary requirement; it is as important as the protection itself and, again, people do not pay enough attention to this.  There are plenty of cases going ahead in the county courts where possession could probably be stopped if someone went down and looked at whether or not the landlord had actually provided all the prescribed information.  While I hesitate to extol the virtues of Landlord Action they published a survey recently that showed that one third of the cases that they had seen where they had been acting for a landlord had not had the prescribed information served properly and they are on the landlords’ side so they are probably talking it down a bit.  So there is plenty of scope there for looking at it and I think it is something that increasingly will be a big deal.  Part of the problem, of course, is that the Government did not do a very good job when it wrote this legislation.  But if you read the Act the implication in the Act is that there would be a standardised, prescribed form because it talks about the prescribed information being provided in a format or in a similar style.  So the implication is that is it like a Section 8 notice or something like that which is in a standard style but then, rather like when I used to write essays at school and got bored near the end and just wrote down in the last paragraph five or six interesting ideas and then got a C because I had not bothered explaining them or worse actually more often than not, the Government got bored when it wrote the prescribed information order and rather than producing a nice form it just produced a laundry list of stuff you might like to tell your tenant which is not particularly helpful.  
However, most of the schemes are offering templates.  Things to look out for; almost all landlords do not complete the templates properly.  Classically, with the DPS scheme the template includes you actually printing out all of the terms and conditions from the DPS website and giving them to the tenant and most landlords do not do that.  In fact these days because there are now two DPS schemes you actually have to print two lots of terms and conditions.  You must print the general terms and conditions and the ones that are specific either to the custodial element or the insured element.  Many landlords print the wrong ones.  That is still not providing the prescribed information.  There are reasons why this is important; it is not just doing it for the sake of being nit-picky.  I mean it is nit-picky, obviously, but there are good reasons why you have to do this.  Both the other schemes offer a leaflet to tenants explaining how they operate; that is a required part of the information.  Many agents do not serve TDS’s standard leaflets despite being reminded many times to do so.  You must refer in the prescribed information to the specific clauses in the tenancy agreement which allow the landlord to subtract from the deposit.  If you use the My Deposit Scheme, My Deposits do not have that in their prescribed information template; you are supposed to add it on the back as a separate, extra piece of text and they do tell landlords that; landlords do not do it.  Also, of course, the landlord must sign the declaration.  I often see My Deposit forms where it has been received by the landlord from My Deposits and they just post it on to the tenant and they have not signed it.  You must sign it, it is vital.  All of these are relevant.  

Look out for relevant persons.  You do not just have to serve the prescribed information on the tenant; it must be served on any person who by agreement with the tenant has paid the deposit on their behalf.  That obviously may include guarantors, quite often bank of Mum and Dad and, I know I keep pointing out to agents, credit cards.  If they take a deposit by credit card technically the credit card company has paid the deposit on behalf and you should send a letter to Mastercard with the prescribed information.  I have actually sent a letter to Mastercard.  You basically get a Mastercard letter back with the credit card equivalent of WTF and they do not know what you are doing but at least you have sent it.  But I do know of agents who still take deposits by credit card despite me saying to them fairly obviously if the tenant cannot afford to pay the deposit except by credit card are they are a particularly good credit risk?  But leaving that aside that may be their only option.  I actually have a case running at the moment on precisely this issue where the tenant paid using a credit card, which was his mother’s credit card and not his own.  The agent did not know and never picked it up so there is problem here with imputed knowledge, the Act as it is written just assumes that agents know who has paid the money.  So you can fudge the issue of imputed knowledge quite carefully, it is quite interesting.  
What I really want to talk about today, though, unsurprisingly, is the fantastically interesting case of Superstrike Ltd v Rodriques and, of course, the Deregulation Bill; a masterful piece of legislative drafting.  So Superstrike relates specifically, as I am sure most of you are aware, if you are not aware you are about to be aware, to deposits taken before the tenancy deposit legislation came into force.  So cast your minds back midnight on 5/6 April 2007 when this came into force.  A few brief hours before, in fact six hours before at about 6 o’clock that evening the DCLG finally published guidance to landlords on how the scheme would work.  It was a bit late and of course it was Good Friday as well, so it was also a Bank Holiday which did not help matters much but never mind.  Their guidance stated that if a deposit was taken prior to the introduction of the scheme on 6 April that deposit did not have to be protected on the basis that no receipt of the deposit money had taken place at the time the legislation was in force.  So far so good.  They went on to say that if the tenancy was renewed after 6 April that would constitute a receipt and the deposit would have to then be protected.  Also so far so good.  The next thing they said, though, was if a tenancy became statutory periodic after 6 April 2007 that would not constitute a receipt and therefore the deposit would not have to be protected.  Now at the time it was politely and even not so politely explained to the DCLG that could not possibly be correct because a statutory periodic tenancy is a new tenancy so if your position is that renewals are new tenancies and require protection then so must statutory periodic tenancies; there cannot be a difference.  But the DCLG knew better, apparently, except they did not.  So this is exactly what happens with Superstrike.  In Superstrike the deposit was taken at approximately January 2007 on a twelve month fixed term tenancy.  In early 2008 it becomes statutory periodic, the deposit is never protected, Section 21 is served in 2011, accelerated possession proceedings are issued in 2012, the claim was defended on the basis that the deposit has never been protected.  It percolates its way to the Court of Appeal.  Easy.
The first part is simple.  The Court of Appeal had no choice, really, but to follow previous appeal reasoning and hold that a statutory periodic tenancy was a new tenancy.  So far so good.  The Court then had to consider what would happen to the deposit between tenancies and whether there was a receipt going on because the fact that it was a new tenancy did not automatically necessarily mean that there was a receipt.  But what the Court thought about is how do you transfer the effect of a deposit from contract to contract.  So imagine you have a selection of beautifully laid out contracts rather like my slides, and you have a tenancy from 2007 to 2008, 2008 to 2009, 2009 to 2010, 2010 to 2011 and so on.  If I have taken the tenancy deposit in 2007 in relation to a twelve month tenancy between 2007 to 2008 and today is 2010, how can I possibly still be holding that deposit that I took in relation to a contract that ended in 2008?  The deposit must somehow be moving forward to transfer otherwise from the landlord’s point of view you cannot deduct from it as against rent arrears or damage and from the tenant’s point of view I have stolen your money, basically, and you should sue me for it.  So the only way that can work, in fact it is in every tenancy agreement, it is written in there, all private sector tenancy agreements say at the start of the tenancy the tenant paid the landlord X and they also go on to say that at the end of the tenancy the landlord will pay the tenant back the deposit, subject to deductions.  So they actually tell you what happens.  
So the Court of Appeal said, well the tenancy agreement says you are going to pay it and pay it back.  The only possible way therefore this could work to transfer this effect onwards is that at the end of the 2008 tenancy the landlord does pay back the deposit to the tenant and the tenant immediately pays it back to the landlord in respect of the next tenancy and those two transfers of money constitute a set-off against one another so there is no actual transfer of funds but the two notional payments are set off.  The landlord’s barristers, of course, at this point were getting somewhat nervous and immediately tried to say, “well transfer really means actual movements of money, not just like notional money like you were talking about, Sir,” which failed dismally because there is plenty of case law that says a transfer of money does not have to involve me actually getting in my pocket and giving you £20 and I am not doing it, incidentally, before anyone asks.  It can equally well involve a transfer of a cheque which is actually not money as such, it can involve a bank transfer, it can involve a transfer of intent and that is all this is.  At which point, of course, if there has been a transfer of funds between the landlord and the tenant and, more to the point, from the tenant back to the landlord there must have been a receipt of those funds.  Receipt is the triggering factor under Section 213 of the Housing Act 2004, ergo the deposit has been received, the deposit must be protected and the prescribed information must be served.  Job done. 
There it might have ended except, of course, and in fact after this the DCLG was feeling pretty calm and they were a little bit upset that their guidance was wrong and the guidance note was taken down within about 48 hours when they realised how badly it was wrong.  But when they really got upset and when I got the Sunday morning phone call when they had the huge meeting with all of the tenancy deposit schemes and they really got concerned, was when they realised it did not just effect a very small sub-set of landlords who had taken deposits back in 2007 which they estimated at 10,000 people, incidentally, carefully estimated numbers.  They had no basis for this number because they asked the deposit schemes how many people it affected and of course the deposit schemes said well we do not know because they are not registered with us, obviously.  But anyway, the number of 10,000 was put out there as being the number.  Personally I think this is a very carefully calculated, it is a very old joke, some of you will have heard this before, I think it is a very carefully calculated number because it is not a number that is so big you really have to do something if you do not feel like it but it is a big enough number to do something if you want to.  So it is a justifiably big number.  But the problem, of course, is that it is not the right number because actually it affects any landlord who has ever renewed a tenancy or whose tenancy has ever become statutory periodic and that is when the DCLG got a bit upset and got very, very scared.  Because, of course, that means that from the private sector landlord point of view any landlord who has renewed their tenancy falls within the Superstrike problem and, of course, post 2011 that means they have 30 days to protect the deposit and serve the prescribed information again and again and again.  If they have not done it within 30 days they are in trouble which means that where we stand today, if you have had a series of six month tenancies and you have done four of them by now, the tenant potentially has four separate money claims against you for between one and three times the sum of the deposit so the money is starting to rack up pretty fast.  
Two problems then occurred, there were two questions that the DCLG started asking which they did not know the answers to.  The first of those questions was does that mean you actually have to re-protect the money in a scheme again and there was a great lot of panic about does that mean landlords are going to have to go to schemes, withdraw the money, give it back to the tenant actually, get them to pay it again and pay it into another scheme or even more perversely, just shift it around the schemes like shifting your debts around different credit cards.  Do they have to shift these deposits around?  But that is a mistaken understanding of the Act.  There is nothing in the Act about protecting deposits.  What the Act actually says is you must deal with the deposit in accordance with the rules of the scheme and, unlike the DCLG, all of the schemes actually understand the concept of renewal and all of the schemes have rules for dealing with renewals of tenancies.  So you could still remain within a scheme and deal with the renewal provided you inform the scheme of the renewal, which does pose a separate problem, quite a lot of landlords have not informed the schemes that their tenancies have been renewed because some of those schemes charge money for renewals and landlords do not want to pay it.  So there are landlords at the moment whose deposits have not been continued in protection because they have not paid the scheme more money.  The DPS insurance scheme is a good example of a scheme that charges you annually.  It is not a single fee as some landlords were hoping like single fee insurance for ever, no, don’t do that.  Can you imagine a car insurance you just pay once?  Sorry I have just paid my car insurance and cannot cope with the idea.  
So you do not have to re-protect schemes but you do have to re-prescribe the information and, of course, bear in mind not just on the tenant but on the relevant person as well again and again and again within 30 days of that renewal occurring.  Therein lies the problem because there is no real fix for this.  One, most landlords are in breach because many of them had not served the prescribed information in the first place never mind again and again and again and two, of course, by the time this came along Superstrike is effectively a retro-active decision because it is not changing the law but it is telling what the law has always been, so in effect it has a retrospective function to it that means that many landlords were ready in trouble as soon as this came along.  So there is no proper fix.  The only practical answer, realistically, was to say; well surely the Section 21 notice is the most valuable thing, let us just give them the prescribed information and risk the possibility of a further financial claim which a lot of landlords simply did.  So the Government said quite quickly they were going to fix it.  In fact Mark Prisk, who was the Housing Minister at the time but who is now spending more time with his family, wrote a letter to the RLA telling them that he knew that this was not the intention of the legislation.  I am not clear how he knew this because he was not even an MP at the time it was passed but he just knew in the way that Ministers just know stuff.  Like Chris Grayling, he knows stuff.  So the Government said they were going to fix it but the problem, of course, with fixing it is that to fix this really you have to do the one thing that Government, and, indeed, Parliament, does not like doing which is you have to  pass retrospective legislation.  Because I can fix it today going forward but it is very difficult to fix this in such a way that previous claims that are out there now go away and that is problematic.  
There was also some issue with the Government not being quite sure what Bill they could slot it into because they could not find a Bill that had a suitable long title for slotting in a random amendment.  However, they then got somewhat embarrassed into action because the Welsh Government said, tell you what, we are going to fix it in the Housing Wales Act 2014, as it now is because it is finished implementation.  So being rather embarrassed by the Welsh saying “we’ll fix it for Wales” the Government turned round suddenly and said, “don’t worry, you don’t need to fix it, we’ll fix it for everybody, all solved.”  So, again, stretching Parliamentary precedent to the furthest level known to man, the Government inserted amendments into the Deregulation Bill at the last minute.  And when I say last minute, I do not mean at Third Reading, I actually mean after Third Reading so these amendments were tabled in the Deregulation Bill after it left the Commons before it arrived in the House of Lords.  They slipped it in along the way.  Parliament in the sense of the Commons has yet to actually approve these amendments; they will have to approve them when it comes back from the Lords later so not only are we doing retroactive legislation which is already stretching stuff but we are also doing retroactive legislation without the unfortunate necessity of people voting on it.  So that this legislation does, and I will come back to when it comes into force because no-one is clear on that yet, is insert four new sections, being 215A through to 215D.  So these are insertions to the Housing Act 2004 and the intention is that these will resolve all problems in a magical way.
So 215A, each of the three, A, B and C resolve a different issue and 215D I will get to in a minute because it does something slightly different.  So 215A deals specifically with situations where a tenancy deposit was taken prior to April 2007 and at some point after April 2007 that tenancy has become periodic, so a pure Superstrike scenario.  What that says is provided that within 90 days of the amended legislation coming into force that deposit is protected and the tenant receives the prescribed information then it will be treated as if the tenant had always been in receipt of prescribed information and had always been protected, so the landlord is safe forever.  Now the other thing this does, incidentally, is create a total sunset horizon sweep-up position on all existing assured shorthold tenancy deposits because it deals with any situation where a deposit was taken pre-April 2007 and is now periodic so there are a few out there,  not many, I have seen a few.  But all of these are effectively being swept up by this legislation.  There will be no possibility once this comes into force after 90 days of any AST with a tenancy deposit that is not within protection.  If it is not in protection then it is not properly protected by that stage.  There will be no requirement to go back and consider when it was first received.  Well, there are requirements to do that but not for the same reason I hasten to add.  
So the second provision, 215B deals with statutory periodic tenancies where the deposit was taken after April 2007.  So if the deposit was taken after April 2007 and the tenancy has then become statutory periodic, provided the deposit was protected properly and the prescribed information served within the time limit that was extant at the time, so either 14 days or 30 days depending, then the deposit will be treated as if it has always been in protection and prescribed information always served.  So if you failed to reserve the prescribed information at the time the tenancy deposit became statutory periodic, it will not matter as long as you have done it to begin with, which is a problem because you will find that many landlords on the original legislation failed to serve the prescribed information, particularly within 14 days.  Now that was fine when you had things like Tiensia to rely on but this says specifically you must have saved it within 14 days, so you will not be able to sue them for the original late service because of Tiensia but you will still be able to sue them under Superstrike because they will not garner the protection of the Deregulation Bill.  The Deregulation Bill a lot of landlords think is some magic bullet that gets them out forever; it really does not.  There are lots of scenarios where the Deregulation Bill does not help the landlords at all.  So if they have taken a deposit prior to the Localism Act coming into force and served prescribed information after 16 days then, yes you cannot sue that person because of Tiensia for the original one but you can sue them for the Superstrike related failing at the time it became statutory periodic.  
The third option is 215C which deals with specific contractual periodics and renewals, so it deals with tenancies where the deposit was taken after April 2007specifically and since then the tenancy has been renewed for a further contractual term or has become a contractual periodic tenancy.  As it happens, the Government did not need to fix contractual periodic tenancies because they did not have a problem but they are just generous that way.  So again, provided that you protected the deposit within the appropriate time limit initially, so 14 days or 30 days, 215C says that on each further renewal it will be treated as if you have again always already protected it.  So again, the point to note is 215C does not help a landlord who took a tenancy deposit for a fixed term tenancy prior to April 2007 and has then renewed that deposit in April 2008.  So if they renewed it for another fixed term after the tenancy protection came into force and did not protect the deposit at that stage 215C does them no favours at all.  And in fact I have actually written a claim letter to a landlord for £38,000 on exactly this point 2 days ago because he took a deposit in January 2007 for a fixed term tenancy of twelve months.  It has been renewed every January going forward but the deposit has never been protected.  Nothing in the Deregulation Bill protects that individual whatsoever because he has never protected the deposit.  If he had allowed it to go statutory periodic at the end of the first fixed term then 215A would protect him but because he renewed each time 215C offers him no protection whatsoever.  So a lot of landlords think this is a magic bullet that gets them out of all previous errors; it does not.  It protects very specific sub-sets of landlords who are left in the lurch by Superstrike specifically.  Landlords who were dumb for other reasons, and there are so many other reasons, have no protection.
Section 215D is the most exciting because it deals with all current claims.  Those of you paying attention will have realised that by changing the law that means that all cases that were previously decided under the old legislation or are currently in Court have a problem and so 215D is meant to fix that.  So the first thing 215D says is the changes in the law do not apply to concluded cases so Superstrike Ltd, for example, cannot seek to re-open the Court of Appeal decision and say, “oh no, the law says that retroactively we were always in the right so you can’t now do us”.  Anything that is concluded is safe but it does apply to any case that is currently in play and the definition of concluded cases means that the Court has made a final disposal and the time for appeal has passed.  So 28 days after a final order, basically.  Of course this has a side effect which I will get to in a moment.  It has a further provision preventing the award of costs against tenants because obviously all of those tenants’ cases will then be immediately dismissed because they do not have a case any more.  There is a provision that says you cannot award costs against a tenant in respect of the claim for the tenancy deposit protection or a Section 21 case but you can still award costs against the tenant for a rent arrears Section 8 based case, for example, which was met with a counterclaim or for procedural matters.  There is nothing in 215D that protects landlords from costs awards so, for example, a landlord who had refused an offer of mediation unreasonably, potentially, would be liable for tenants’ costs.  Nothing in 215D protects them from that.  Obviously the side effect of this is if you are a landlord and are aware of this you are massively motivated to file numerous applications for delay and stays and also to appeal again and again and all the way to the Supreme Court to buy yourself as much time as possible in the hope that the Deregulation Bill will kick in before you get to final disposal plus 28 days.  I suspect that you will find that some landlords are in fact already doing that, although they have got a long way to go so that would be quite hard work but it could be done.  So I do fear that there is going to be yet more pressure on our somewhat overloaded County Courts.  
Things that are more interesting; inevitably this means the focus shifts, to my mind, to looking at and attacking more aggressively the original registration of the deposit because if the original registration is defective then none of the Deregulation Bill protects the landlord, so it is worth going back and mining the history more carefully.  There is nowhere near enough effort being devoted to looking at details of prescribed information and I think you would find, if you looked at it carefully, that the majority of landlords have a defect in there somewhere you can have a go with.  

The other thing that is interesting about Superstrike is it shifted the focus to receipt and I think that answers a number of key questions, so one point I have never been 100% sure of the answer to is what happens if a landlord purchases the property from another landlord with a tenant in place.  Superstrike actually tells you the answer because in purchasing the property the deposit must have been transferred or its effect is transferred from one landlord to the other, even though the tenancy remains untouched as such, it is assigned.  But the purchasing landlord must have been in receipt of the tenant’s deposit, even if it is notional though not actual, so arguably I think that would then trigger a protection requirement and, indeed, I have just argued that yesterday so we will see.  But it means that receipt is now an interesting focus and probably the strongest focus.  
I do not know if anyone has heard about this but I have heard rumour of a further case before the Court of Appeal that uses an obiter argument from the end of Superstrike, which basically says that Section 215 of the Act is wrong so if you have not protected the deposit Section 215, just the original one not 215A and all the other exciting variants of 215 I have just talked about, says that you can fix your position by giving the tenant back deposit.  You are still open for the financial claims but there is a Section 21 defence there.  There is a mistake, arguably, in the wording of Section 215 because actually what you have to do is comply with the initial requirements of the scheme and it is debateable whether merely giving back the deposit is sufficient to do that.  In fact it may be, because of the way it is worded, you can never actually comply with the initial requirements of the scheme and therefore you cannot ever achieve a Section 215 protection or recovery.  Now the problem with this, I think, as an argument is it is in danger of falling rather aggressively into the category of Article 1 Protocol 1 counter arguments and if I was a landlord saying hang on a minute, you are engineering a situation where I can never, ever, ever use a Section 21, is that not a breach of my Article 1 Protocol 1 rights?  I think there is a risk that the Court would be somewhat forced really to read Section 215 in a compatible manner as Parliament no doubt intended it to work as opposed to what they wrote.  But you never can tell with these people.
Finally, last but by no means least, there has been one other strange decision.  There was a very interesting case in R (on the application of Tummond) v Reading County Court & Anor which I have mentioned in my notes.  What happened here is a landlord had issued a Section 21 prior to protecting the deposit, so they had taken the deposit, started the tenancy, issued a Section 21 and then protected the deposit inside 14 days.  So the deposit was protected properly but they had issued a Section 21 first.  Now most people think that cannot be done and I had always considered that it cannot be done and indeed the law actually says that you cannot do it.  However the district judge appeared not to agree and a circuit judge refused permission to appeal.  Without getting all down and dirty and procedure, the only way around the refusal of permission to appeal is to go to the Administrative Court, basically on Wednesbury unreasonableness but it is a pretty high threshold.  So this is exactly what happened here and very, very annoyingly, the High Court judge very simply held that the threshold had not been passed and he was not going to overturn the circuit judge’s refusal for permission to appeal but then he used my second least favourite High Court judge’s words.  My least favourite is “I find for the other side” obviously, my second least favourite is “If I am wrong about this” and he then, if he was wrong about this, proceeded to cover his backside by choosing to attempt to interpret the Housing Act 2004 but having taken drugs first.  He held, almost unbelievably, that because there was a clause in the agreement that said that the landlord was going to protect the deposit within 14 days she was under a binding obligation to do so and therefore she was holding it under a scheme which is what is required by the legislation.  He also then held that the penalties could not possibly apply to her because the title of the penalty says, “Penalties for failure to protect” and she had in fact protected within 14 days.  I am not going to get into statutory interpretation and use the title of a section as a guide to interpretation; there are much better people here than me to talk about that and I will talk to them about it later.  Even more bizarrely he then said, in case this sounds like Menzreha, which it does, it is not because actually that is where he came up with the whole thing about it being a contractual obligation. So it is not Menzreha but it sounds a lot like it to you and me but really it is not.  Frankly I have read it 4 times and I cannot understand why it is not Menzreha but it sounds like it.
The problem with this is, of course, twofold.  The first point is that a Section 21 is not valid or invalid.  A Section 21 is always valid in of itself.  What the Act prevents is service of the notice and renders that invalid, so we have this very, very odd situation where I can serve you a notice and provided I have got a clause in my tenancy agreement that says I am going to protect the deposit soon and do so, my service is valid.  Presumably if I do not protect my service is magically rendered invalid and the well-known service leprechauns come and pick my notice out of your pocket and run away with it or maybe there is a better method.  I am quite happy with a piece of legislation that says X is valid provided Y happens.  I am not comfortable with an interpretation which says service is only valid when it is actually a physical thing that involves me giving you a bit of paper until Y happens.  The problem, of course, with this case and the issue that really annoys me is of course it is technically obiter because it has not been appealed to the Court of Appeal and the primary ratio of the case was I am not overturning the circuit judge’s decision, but County Courts do like reading those High Court cases and there is a possibility of persuading a County Court judge to actually pay attention to this utter load of garbage.  Sorry, I mean with the greatest respect to His Honour.
Chair:  Thanks very much Deirdre and David for those very useful talks.  Are any questions for either Deirdre or David?  

Timothy Waitt, Anthony Gold Solicitors:  If the landlord has failed to comply with the legislation within the original 14 days and therefore they are not protected by the amendment, does that mean they still need to carry on serving prescribed information ad infinitum?

David Smith:  Yes, they do, because they would feel the full cool breeze of the Superstrike decision.  That is the bizarreness of it.  If you do not fall in with the Deregulation Bill protection then you are exposed to the cold wind of Superstrike and you have to do what it says.  That is why I find it so utterly fascinating and why I think it is not the magic bullet some landlords are painting it as.  

Contributor:  This is a question that marries together both the end of Deirdre’s presentation and the theme of the tenancy deposits as well.  We heard Deirdre tell us about the protection against preventing Section 21 notices being served within 6 months of various different actions instigated by the tenants including Housing Act 2004 disrepair notices, etc.  Is there any such protection offered against landlords who have had an action taken against them for failure to comply with the tenancy deposit scheme then, having faced the consequences, corrected that.  Are they then able to serve a Section 21 notice straight away and, if so, why was not that also included in the 6 month stay?
David Smith:  I have seen a version of this Bill at first reading so the answer to your question is, no, that protection is not there and the answer to your second question is because they did not listen to you.

Chair:  The Bill originated with Shelter so I suppose we should take responsibility for that.  I think we thought that we had to limit it to situations that were objectively provable.  Not that that situation is not objectively provable; perhaps we were not brave enough to go a little bit further than that but a bit too late now, unfortunately, because it has got into the hands of the Parliamentary drafts people so it may come out completely unrecognisable from how it went in.

If there are no more questions I will move on to the Information Exchange.

Justin Bates, Arden Chambers and HLPA Vice-Chair:  Some of you may have seen the Nearly Legal post from a couple of weeks ago about the Central London unassigned list and how terrible a waste of money it is for our clients.  Both Giles Peaker and I had a series of emails from people afterwards expressing, broadly in words that David was just using, their views on the Central London unassigned list and we are trying to set up a meeting with Judge Mitchell to talk about the effect it has on clients and the money that gets thrown away.  Could I ask that any of you who have got suitably anonymous examples of cases where you had to take different tactical decisions as a result of losing money from being bumped off the unassigned list could drop me an email with some examples?  I am thinking of cases where, if they are privately paying, the client had to make a decision perhaps to use different, cheaper counsel or to drop their solicitors; or if they are legally aided, if the thrown away money took us over the threshold of the cost benefits analysis and they lost their Legal Aid certificate as a result.  I am hoping that with a couple of examples we might find it a bit easier to shift the County Court at Central London towards not listing quite so heavily on the unassigned list and not wasting quite so much money.  My email is justin.bates@ardenchambers.com and I will arrange for an email to go to all members in due course but if you could rack your brains I would be very grateful.  
Sara Stephens, Anthony Gold Solicitors and HLPA Executive:  I would like to give a quick legal aid update regarding the ongoing battle with CFAs and legal aid.  I had a meeting with the Legal Aid Agency last month having got them to accept that they do not understand what a CFA is.  They now seem to understand what a CFA is and they are in discussions about it and I have been promised an update next week, so I will keep people informed.  Also a reminder that you need to be using the new forms that came into force.  They will no longer accept the old forms so make sure you are using the correct one.  HLPA has also been invited to give evidence to the Justice Select Committee on the impact of LASPO, so that is good news.

Mike O’Dwyer, Philcox Gray Solicitors:  Can I just make a comment that this evening’s session has within the title money claims and we have had two excellent contributions, thoughtful and provocative, etc.  But we do, I would say, as practitioners need to revisit the whole practice in relation to money claims in the context of those disrepair cases which are not CFAs but are run on legal aid where, because of the LASPO changes, our clients have to float off and do something in relation to their compensation claims.  But also in relation to matters such as tenancy deposits where, because we do not do money claims, we have a gap in our knowledge.  So I am asking the Executive to consider coming back to issue of money claims at some point; not necessarily as a topic on its own but as something that we need to revisit.  

Tony Martin, BPP Pro Bono Centre:  Just to say that we will take cases pro bono where they fall within the small claims limit, either disrepair claims where the repairs have been done and there are claims for damages or deposit claims.  We are happy to take referrals in either of those circumstances.

Claire Sephton, University of Westminster:  Following on from that, the one thing I wanted to ask about tenancy deposits was what is happening when you issue them in terms of what track.  Have they been transferred into the small claims track generally? 

David Smith:  I am probably the worst person to ask in that I tend not to take ones that are at risk of going to small claims track but they are parte claims.  My experience tends to be that the lowest you go is the fast track but there may be other people who have different experiences from me on that.  I think it does depend a little bit on the district judge on the day

Claire Sephton, University of Westminster:  The advisors always want to go on the small track.  They always ask for it to go on the small track and they have not had a problem yet with that.  But I had a student who came to see me because they were renewing their tenancy and it was an AST and the landlord was now saying it was a licence.  They did not have the tenancy agreement, it sounded like it was an AST still but I guess that was an anti-deposit trick.  
David Smith:  It is almost certainly a consumer redress trick.  The consumer redress schemes for letting agencies come into force on 1 October and there will certainly be agents who will be seeking to call their ASTs licences because licences are not covered by the redress schemes whereas ASTs are.  It is a big drive in the HMO sector to call everything a licence but agents will do it too now as well to avoid redress schemes because they are pricey.

Tony Martin, BPP Pro Bono Centre:  To respond on that, our experience is that mostly you can argue the ones on the small claims track but we have had landlords or counsel representing landlords arguing on to the fast track or in the multi-track, usually on the grounds that their own tenancy agreement is so complex in trying to avoid the protection of the tenancy deposit scheme that it is a complexity issue and therefore will need to go on the higher track.

Stephen Cottle, Garden Court Chambers:  Just on the issue of deposits, and it was a very good talk we had tonight, one question that occurred in a case of mine was in Tower Hamlets where the local authority have paved the way for the client to move into a tenancy under the rent deposit scheme and the landlord duly invoiced the local housing authority for the amount of deposit which they said on the face of the tenancy that they would pay.  There was a delay and there was more of a delay and there was another chasing letter by the landlord and the local authority said that since we have delayed what we would like to do is pay you twice the amount you have invoiced us but we will call it an incentive payment.  It went to court on the issue, it was the end of June, it is not written up yet, but the judge at Bow County Court decided the case the right way after some interesting cross-examination on the question of whether or not the landlord could use the money to go to the Bahamas.  The local authority officers, who we had summonsed to come along with officers’ reports to committee to explain the incentive scheme, etc, turned up without that but what the officer did say was that it was a discharge of any liability that the authority might have towards the landlord.  The judge therefore clamped on to, I think it is sub-section 8 of 2012, the definition of deposit and decided that the incentive scheme was a deposit and the landlord’s section 21 notice was invalid.

Giles Peaker, Anthony Gold Solicitors and HLPA Chair:  It is probably unnecessary but I am just feeling a certain tension between the advice centres on the one hand, who want their deposit cases on the small claims because it offers their students or whoever cost protection of some sort, and the solicitors here who might not be used to running deposit claims and want them on the multi-track otherwise there is not much point in doing them.  

Chair:  Can I give a very brief report on the judicial review of the legal aid remuneration regulations which are the regulations that Martha Spurrier dealt with at the last meeting that provide that no legal aid will be paid for judicial review unless permission for a judicial review is granted, except at the discretion of the Legal Aid Agency.  A claim for judicial review of the regulations was issued in July on behalf on 4 four firms, Deighton Pierce Glynn, Public Law Solicitors in Birmingham, Macintosh Law and Ben Hoare Bell in Sunderland and Shelter, so there are 5 claimants.  Permission has now been given to take the claim forward.  I am delighted to say that the costs cap has been agreed by the Treasury Solicitor.  It is set down for hearing in the week of 16 December.  If you have any cases or experiences of the Legal Aid Agency discretion on judicial review we would be very grateful to hear from you.  Also if your practice has taken any decisions as to not to take judicial reviews because of the regulations we would also be very interested to hear from you.  We asked to lodge updated witness statements in about a month so we would be very grateful to hear anything about those experiences.  The judicial review theme brings me to the HLPA conference 2014, a date for your diaries, 10 December, unmissable; panel speakers on judicial review and Alison Harvey and Jan Luba QC keynote speakers.  
If there are no more contributions I will close the meeting and remind you that the next meeting is on 19 November on Housing Law Update.   
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